
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
JASPER COUNTY, GEORGIA 

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
****COMMISSIONERS MEETING ROOM GROUND FLOOR**** 

MONTICELLO, GEORGIA 
August 2, 2021 

6:00 p.m. 
*** The meeting will be live streamed Via Facebook on the Jasper County Georgia Facebook Page. 

***See Revised Continued Precautions in Response to Covid-19 at bottom of Page 2. 
*** Citizen Access will be available with limited Seating. *** 

 
I. Call to Order (6:00 p.m.)                                  

NAME PRESENT ABSENT LATE ARRIVED 
DISTRICT 1 – SHEILA G. JONES     
DISTRICT 2 – BRUCE HENRY, CHAIR     
DISTRICT 3 – DON JERNIGAN     
DISTRICT 4 – GERALD STUNKEL – VICE-CHAIR     
DISTRICT 5  - STEVEN LEDFORD     
  
 II.     Pledge of Allegiance –       
III.    Invocation – District 4 
         
 IV.    Approval of Agenda 
             
 V.      Consent Agenda –  
1.  Approval of Minutes: 

• July 12,  2021 – Regular Meeting Minutes 
 

2.   Check Register – Check #’s   62034 - 62231 
 
VI.   Public Hearing  

Public Hearings are conducted to allow public comments on specific advertised issues such as rezoning, 
ordinances, policy development and other legislative actions to be considered by the County 
Commissioners.  Following the public hearing, the Board of Commissioners will take action on each 
item presented below.  
 

 
 

Presentation/Delegations allows scheduled speakers to address the Commission for not more than ten 
(10) minutes on specific topics or for recognition of citizens,  county employees or other events by the 
Commissioners.   

 
 
 
The Citizens Comments section of the Agenda allows citizens who sign up to address the Commission 
for not more than three (3) minutes on specific topics.   The County Attorney will keep time.  Please  
be courteous of the 3 minute time limit. Comments noted from citizens via the Jasper County FB Page. 

IX. County Commissioner Items  
 

VIII. Citizens Comments 

VII. Presentations/Delegations 



XIII. Executive Session 
 

 

X.   Regular Agenda 
 
Business Items: 

1. Alcohol License Transfer – Shane One Stop  
2. Jasper County Library Board Appointments 
3. Jasper County Water and Sewer Authority Board Appointment 
4. Jasper County Recreation Association Board Bylaws Change - From 9 to 7 Members 
5. FY 2022 NEGRC AAA Contract – Senior Center 
6. FY 2022 NEGRC Transportation Contract – Senior Center 
7. FY 2022 GA Foods Contract Amendment – Senior Center 
8. FY 2021 Budget Amendment – Remaining Fundraising Balance from FY 2020 – Senior Center 
9. FY 2022 Budget Amendment – Remaining Fundraising Balance from FY 2021 – Senior Center 
10. Schedule Work Sessions and Called Meetings 

 
XI.   County Attorney Items 

XII.   County Manager Update 

 
 

Consultation with County attorney to discuss pending or potential litigation as provided by O.C.G.A.  
§50-14-2(1); Discussion of the future acquisition of real estate as provided by O.C.G.A. §50-14-3(4); 
and discussion on employment, compensation, or periodic evaluation of county employees as provided 
in O.C.G.A. § 50-14-3(6)  
 
XIV. Adjournment  
 

****Details for Meeting Attendance**** 

• All persons will be temperature checked at the door. 
• Temperature readings of 100.4 or higher will not be allowed to enter the building. 

• Masks will be provided and recommended to be worn, but not required. 
• Seating will be Limited.  

  



Consent Agenda – Item 1: 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department:  Board of Commissioners 
 
Date:  August 2, 2021 
 
Subject:  Approval of Minutes 
 
Summary: 
 
 
Minutes have been completed for the Jasper County Board of Commissioners: 

 
• July 12,  2021 – Regular Meeting Minutes 

 
 
 
Background: 
 
 
Cost:  $0 
 
 
Recommended Motion: 
 
Approve minutes for:  
 

• July 12,  2021 – Regular Meeting Minutes 
  



Jasper County Board of Commissioners Meeting Minutes July 12, 2021 – Called Meeting  
 

   Jasper County Board of Commissioners 

July 12, 2021 

Called Meeting Minutes 

6:00 P.M. 

 

Chairman Henry called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 

Commissioners Present: Bruce Henry, Chairman, Gerald Stunkel, Vice-Chairman, Don Jernigan via phone, 

Sheila Jones and Steven Ledford 

Staff Present: Mike Benton, County Manager, Sharon Robinson, Administrative Services Director, and David 

Ozburn, County Attorney.  

Pledge of Allegiance: 

Invocation:  District 3- Commissioner Don Jernigan 

 

Agenda Approval:  Commissioner Ledford motioned to approve the agenda as presented. Commissioner 

Stunkel seconded the motion, passed unanimously.  

 

Consent Agenda:  

Commissioner Stunkel motioned to approve the minutes for:  

 

 May 10, 2021 – Work Session Minutes 

 May 17, 2021   Called Meeting Minutes 

 May 24, 2021 - Work Session Minutes 

 June 7,  2021 – Regular Meeting Minutes 

 June 21, 2021 – Public Hearing Minutes 10:00 A.M. 

 June 21, 2021 - Public Hearing and Called Meeting 6:00 P.M. 

 June 28, 2021 – Called Meeting Minutes 

 

 Commissioner Jernigan seconded the motion, passed unanimously.  

 

Commissioner Jernigan motioned to approve Check Register Check #s- 61735-62033. Commissioner Jones 

seconded the motion, passed unanimously.  

 

Public Hearing: None 

 

Presentations/Delegations- None 

 

Citizens Comments: None 

 

County Commissioner’s Items: 

Commissioner Ledford- None 

 

Commissioner Stunkel- None  

 

Commissioner Jernigan- Commissioner Jernigan asked the County Manager if he had any idea of when we 

may get started on our Chip Seal project. Mr. Benton stated that he had an in depth planning meeting today with 

the Public Works Director. The plan is to start in about two weeks.  

 

Commissioner Jones- None 

 



Jasper County Board of Commissioners Meeting Minutes July 12, 2021 – Called Meeting  
 

Chairman Henry- Chairman Henry stated that there was an article in the newspaper about the board going into 

an Executive Session and voting to accept the resignation for a board member of Jasper County Water and 

Sewer Authority. He gave clarification that the Board of Commissioners do not vote to accept or deny 

resignations. There was a case where one person said that they resigned but their term had expired. We reached 

out to them to see if they wanted to sign up again but we never heard from them.  

Regular Agenda: 

Item 1:  Jasper County Water and Sewer Authority Board Appointment:  

Mrs. Frances Campbell stood before the board to explain why she is interested in serving on the Jasper County 

Water Authority Board. She stated that she wants to serve so that she can help keep the water safe and clean.  

 

Commissioner Steven Ledford expressed his interest in serving on the Jasper County Water and Sewer 

Authority as well. He stated that he would like to see Jasper County grow in an Industrial manner to help relieve 

the homeowners and property owners in the county of some of the tax burden 

 

Commissioner Jernigan motioned to appoint Frances Campbell and Commissioner Steven Ledford to serve a 5-

year term, July 2021 to July 2026. Commissioner Stunkel seconded the motion, passed unanimously.  

 

Item 2:  Jasper County Recreation Board Appointments:   
Mr. Benton stated that we originally interested in serving on the board. We now have four interested and two 

have completed the new application.  

 

Ms. Valerie Dale Pennamon stood before to the board to explain why she would like to serve on the Recreation 

Board. She stated that she is an avid sports player and she feels that she can help with enhancing the activities at 

the Recreation Department.  

 

Commissioner Jernigan asked how many board members are the currently on the Recreation Board. He stated 

that he thinks nine members is too many members to be on the board and he would like to see it reduced to 

around 7.  

 

Commissioner Jernigan motioned to appoint Valerie Dale Pennamon to serve a 3-year term from July 2021 to 

July 2024. Commissioner Ledford seconded the motion, passed unanimously.  

 

Item 3: Alcohol License Transfer- Bear Creek Marina:  

Planning and Zoning Director, Shane Sealy stood before the board to give a summary of the request for license 

transfer.  He states that Don Wright has applied for a transfer of pouring license for distilled spirits, beer and 

wine at Bear Creek Marina located at 60 Bear Creek Marina Road for the remainder of 2021.  The transfer 

would take place at the time of the sale of the business and property. The proposed sale is for the late August 

timeframe. The original application was 2021-A-007 and this new application for the transfer is 2021-A-010. 

Mr. Wright intends to come before the board for retail sales of beer and wine in August. 

 

In six months there have been 3 calls to Bear Creek Marina. Those were mostly for noise.  

 

Mr. Wright stated that owning a Marina has been a dream of his all his life.  

 

Commissioner Ledford motioned to approve the transfer of Alcohol License (pouring license for distilled 

spirits, beer and wine) for Bear Creek Marina contingent upon the final sale of the business and property to Don 

Wright. Commissioner Stunkel seconded the motion, passed unanimously.  

 

Item 4: FY2021 Committed Fund Balance- Recreation Department Fundraising:   



Jasper County Board of Commissioners Meeting Minutes July 12, 2021 – Called Meeting  
 

Finance Director, Dennis Pate stood before the board to present a request to commit some Fund Balance Funds 

relative to fundraising efforts for the Recreation Department. We have not brought Fund Balance forward for a 

few fiscal periods.  

FY  

Fiscal Year Revenue Expense Excess/Deficit 

FY2018 $    27,531.82 $    19,866.81 $        7,665.01  

FY2019 $    19,142.40 $    19,880.92 $         (738.52) 

FY2020 $      6,965.00 $      4,639.00 $       2,326.00 

$        9,252.49 

FY2021 $    14,110.00 $    12,529.03 $        1,580.97 

$        1,580.97 

 

$    10,833.46 

 

 Commissioner Jernigan motioned to approve committing $10,833.46 from general fund balance for Recreation 

fundraiser expenses. Commissioner Stunkel seconded the motion, passed unanimously.  

 

Item 5: FY 2021 Budget Amendment- Recreation Department Fundraising Expenditures:  
Commissioner Ledford motioned to authorize Chairman Henry to sign Budget Amendment #2021.07.12 in the 

amount of $10,833.46 for Recreation activity for FY2022. Commissioner Stunkel seconded the motion, passed 

unanimously.  

 

Item 6: 2022 LMIG Planning:  
Mr. Benton stated that we have until February 1, 2022 to submit an LMIG application to get the $585, 310.96. 

We are required to match the amount by 30%. He stated that 2015-2021 the board choose to alternate the LMIG 

between Post Road and Goolsby Road. Post Road and Pintail should be finished by the end of paving season. 

He stated that we have a very detailed spreadsheet with all of the roads in the county listed that they will use to 

access roads in the county. He mentioned that in the past we have used GDOT traffic counts but we will use 

Public Works funds to purchase our own traffic counters.  

 

Item 7: Schedule Work Sessions and Called Meetings:   
No meetings schedule as of right now.  

 

County Attorney Items:   

None, but would like an Executive Session for potential litigation. 

 

County Manager Items:  

Mr. Benton stated that we have received three application for the Recreation Director position. We have not 

received any applications for the Senior Accountant Position. Building Permits for June totaled 12 new 

construction, 56 total permits. Six months total 79 new construction permits and 343 total permits. He stated 

that he and Mrs. Robinson meet with Ms. Pennamon about setting a date and time for the Road Name 

dedication. They chose August 28th at 10 a.m. 

 

Executive Session:  

Commissioner Ledford motioned to go into Executive Session to discuss potential litigation at 6:45 p.m. to 

discuss potential litigation. Commissioner Jernigan seconded the motion, passed unanimously.  

 

Commissioner Ledford motioned to exit Executive Session at 7:00 p.m. Commissioner Ledford seconded the 

motion, passed unanimously.  

 



Jasper County Board of Commissioners Meeting Minutes July 12, 2021 – Called Meeting  
 

Commissioner Ledford motioned to approve Chairman Henry to enter into the agreement settlement with Mr. 

Burton for the tax parcel. Commissioner Stunkel seconded the motion, passed unanimously.  

 

Adjourn: 

Commissioner Stunkel motioned to adjourn the meeting at 8:05 p.m. Commissioner Ledford seconded the 

motion, passed unanimously. 

 

___________________________ 

Bruce Henry, Chairman 

 

 

___________________________ 

Sharon Robinson, Clerk 



 

Consent Agenda – Item 2: 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department:  Board of Commissioners 
 
Date:  August 2, 2021 
 
Subject:  Approval of Check Register 
 
 
Summary: 
 
A check register will be generated by the finance department on meeting day for signature and approval to 
process the checks. 
 
Background: 
 
Cost:  $0 
 
 
Recommended Motion: 
 
Approve processing of check #’s 62034 - 62231 



Business - Item 1:  
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department: Planning and Zoning 
 
Date: August 2, 2021 
 
Subject: Alcohol License Transfer – Shane One Stop 
 
Summary:  
 
Gautamkumar Patel has applied for a transfer of alcohol license for retail sales for beer and wine for the 
remainder of 2021 for Shane One Stop located at 8541 Hwy 142 Shady Dale, Ga 31085.  The transfer would 
take place at the time of the sale of the business. The proposed sale is for mid to late August timeframe. The 
original application was 2021-A-008 and this new application for the transfer is 2021-A-011. A background 
check was performed on the applicant and came back with a clean record. 
 
 
 
Background:  
 
Shane One Stop was approved for retail sales of beer and wine license for on December 3, 2020 for 2021 for 
Shehzad Himani (2021-A-008). Gautamkumar Patel is purchasing the business of Shane One Stop and wants to 
transfer the alcohol license. 
 
 
 
 
Cost: 
 
 
Motion: 
Motion to approve the transfer of the alcohol license for retail of beer and wine from the current license holder 
to the applicant, Gautamkumar Patel for the establishment known as Shane One Stop located 8541 Hwy 142 
Shady Dale to be effective at the closing date of the sale of the business. 
  







Business - Item 2: 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department:  BOC 
 
Date:   August 2, 2021 
 
Subject: Jasper County Library Board Appointments 
 
 
Summary: 
  
The Jasper County Library Board of Trustees has two vacancies.  
One member to be appointed by the Jasper County Board of Commissioners. 
One member to be appointed by the Monticello City Council. 
 
 
The Board of Commissioners staff advertised the Library Board of Trustees vacancies. 
Paul White has expressed interest in being appointed to the Library Board of Trustees by the Jasper County 
Board of Commissioners. 
 
 
Current Members are: 
Amy Wade - term expires June 2025 (appointed by Board of Education) 
Mary Camp - term expires June 2025 (appointed by the JCBOC) 
Margaret Watson - term expires June 2025 (appointed by the JCBOC) 
J. Ross Hays - term expires June 2025 (appointed by the JCBOC) 
 
 
John Stork – term expired June 2021 (appointed by Monticello City Council) 
 
 
Background: 
  
The Jasper County Library Board of Trustees is a 6-member Board. They serve 6-year terms.  The Board of 
Commissioners appoints 4 members, The City of Monticello appoints 1 member; and the Board of Education 
appoints 1 member.  
 
 
Cost: 
 
None 
 
 
 
Recommended Motion(s): 
Appoint Mr. Paul White to the Jasper County Board of Trustees for a six-year term to expire June, 2027. 
  







July 22, 2021 
Paul White 
131 Swan Court 
Monticello, GA 31064 
Pwhite131@gmail.com 
706-468-5781 
 
Dear M. srobinson@jaspercountyga.org 
I am Paul White and a retired public school High School English teacher. I heard there were openings on the Library 
Board. I think my skills would serve our community well in that position. Please consider me in filling that role.  
Looking forward to hearing from you.  
Paul White  
Pwhite131@gmail.com 
 

mailto:Pwhite131@gmail.com
mailto:srobinson@jaspercountyga.org
mailto:Pwhite131@gmail.com


Business Item 3: 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department:  BOC 
 
Date:   August 2, 2021 
 
Subject: Jasper County Water and Sewer Authority Board Appointment 
 
 
Jasper County Water and Sewer Authority Board has three vacant positions. 
 
Vacancy # 1 – Term expires March 1, 2026 
Vacancy # 2 – Term expires March 1, 2026 
Vacancy # 3 – Term expires Five Years after Appointment Date 
 
 
 
Current Members: 
Wanda Cummings – term expires Sept 30, 2024 
Jeff Yoder – term expires March 1, 2026 
Mark Stone – term expires March 1, 2026 
Frances Campbell – term expires July 1, 2026 
Bill Whitten – term expires March 1, 2026 
Steven Ledford – term expires – July 1, 2026 
 
 
Ronald Burch has applied for one of the vacant positions. 
 
 
Background: 
  
The Jasper County Water and Sewer Authority is a 9-member Board, appointed by the Board of 
Commissioners to serve 5-year terms. The terms begin at appointment and expire at the 5 year mark. 
 
 
Cost: 
 
None 
 
 
 
Recommended Motion: 
 
Board Discretion 
 
 







Business Item 4: 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department: Jasper County Recreation 
 
Date:   August 2, 2021 
 
Subject: Jasper County Recreation Association Board Bylaws Change - From 9 to 7 Members 
 
 
Summary:  
 
The Jasper County Recreation Association Board Bylaws state the Board shall consist of nine members. 
 
At the Regular Meeting on July 12, 2021; the Board of Commissioners had brief discussion on changing 
the number of Jasper County Recreation Association Board Members from a 9-member to a 7-member 
Board.   
 
 
 
Background:  
 
The Jasper County Board of Commissioners approve/amend the By-Laws of the Jasper County 
Recreation Association Board as needed. 
 
The Jasper County Board of Commissioners amended the Jasper County Recreation Board By-Laws to 
change the number of members from 7 to 9 at their Regular meeting on February 4, 2019.  
 
Cost:   
 
No cost to Jasper County. 
 
 
Recommended Motion:  
 
Motion to change the Jasper County Recreation Association Board By-Laws from a 9-member to a 7-
member board.  
 
 















Business Item 5: 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department: Senior Center  
 
Date: 8-2-21 
 
Subject: Senior Center FY 2022 NEGRC AAA Contract  
 
 
Summary:  
 
The Senior Center contracts annually with North East Georgia Regional Commission (NEGRC) to provide 
Aging Services. 
 
 
 
 
Background:  
 
The Senior Center generates revenue by providing Congregate, Home Delivered Meal (HDM), and Telephone 
Reassurance services through NEGRC Area Agency on Aging. Federal and State funding sources are managed 
through NEGRC and delivered to counties that provide aging services according to contractual agreements.  
 
 
 
 
Cost:  
 
None 
 
 
Recommended Motion:  
 
Approve the FY22 NEGRC Contract for Aging Services; authorize Vice-Chairman to sign the contract 
 
 
  

















Business Item 6: 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department: Senior Center  
 
Date: 8-2-21 
 
Subject: FY 2022 NEGRC Transportation Contract  
 
 
 
Summary:  
 
The Senior Center contracts annually with NEGRC Department of Human Services Coordinated Transportation 
to provide Aging TRIPS. Please see the attached contract for FY22. 
 
 
 
 
Background:  
 
The Senior Center generates revenue by providing transportation services for our aging members. We provide 
daily transportation for those attending congregate services at the Center and we provide Aging Trips to 
doctor’s appointments and pharmacies. These trips can also include quality of life needs if there is no other 
provider. We encourage all members to utilize non-emergency transportation services through either Medicaid 
or their insurance provider as their primary provider. We serve as the secondary source of transportation due to 
limited staff time, vehicles, and budgets. 
 
 
 
 
Cost:  
No extra cost to the county. This contract helps us generate revenue to run our transportation portion of 
services. 
 
 
Recommended Motion: 
 
Approve FY 2022 NEGRC Transportation Contract and authorize Vice-Chairman to sign. 
  



1 

 

 

FY22 COORDINATED TRANSPORTATION 
CONTRACT 

 
 
CONTRACT BETWEEN: 
 
Jasper County Board of Commission for the Senior Center; hereinafter referred to as Sub-Contractor, and 
the Northeast Georgia Regional Commission; hereinafter referred to as NEGRC, agree: 
 

WITNESSETH: 
 
WHEREAS, NEGRC has a need for, and desires to purchase transportation services for eligible DHS 
Consumers as needed. 
 
AND 
 
WHEREAS, the Sub-Contractor has represented to NEGRC it is available to provide transportation 
services for the described population. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants herein set forth, it is agreed by and 
between the parties hereto to abide by the conditions set forth in the remainder of this Contract. 
 
BOTH parties agree: 
 

a) NEGRC will purchase the eligible transportation services. 
b) Authorized DHS Human Service Providers will notify the Regional Transportation Coordinator 

which consumers are eligible. This notification is done via a completed client registration and trip 
order entered in the TRIP$ System. Information will be updated in TRIP$ as needed and reported 
to the Regional Transportation Coordinator as requested. 

c) The Sub-Contractor will invoice the NEGRC on a per client/per trip basis. Invoicing will be 
completed by the tenth day of the month following the activity. 

d) NEGRC agrees to reimburse Sub-Contractor for eligible transportation services delivered upon 
receipt of their reimbursement from the Georgia Department of Human Services. 

 
 
1. Purpose: 
 
The purpose of this contract is to provide transportation services to eligible DHS consumers. 
 
 
2. Contact Term: 
 
The term of this contact shall be from July 1, 2021 through June 30, 2022, unless terminated earlier in 
accordance with this contract. 



2 

 

 

3. Services to Be Provided: 
 
Sub-Contractor shall deliver transportation services to individuals registered with the Regional 
Transportation Coordinator in accordance to regulations administered by the Georgia Department of 
Human Services. Sub-Contractor agrees to provide sufficient personnel and vehicles, as necessary, to 
meet needs and render said services twenty-four hours a day, seven days each week. 
 
Sub-Contractor shall be solely responsible for the maintenance of the vehicles and shall maintain said 
vehicles in accordance with the vehicle standards established by the Georgia Department of Human 
Services to ensure safe operation and to comply with all federal, state and local laws and codes and/or 
required inspections. Sub-Contractor will be responsible for providing vehicle insurance on those 
vehicles owned by the Sub-Contractor. Sub-Contractor shall be responsible for purchasing new vehicles 
to replace those that are not repairable or those that do not comply with DHS safety requirements. 
. 
Drivers shall comply with regulations set forth by the Georgia Department of Public Safety and the 
Georgia Department of Human Services. Drivers shall possess such licenses and permits as required 
by the State and the localities. 
 
Sub-Contractor agrees to provide NEGRC with a Certificate of Insurance as proof they have obtained and 
maintained the following types of insurance coverage for the duration of the contract: 
 
Insurance Type:       Minimum Limits: 
Workers Compensation (Occurrence)   Required for all contacts-No Exemptions 
 
Commercial General Liability Policy (Occurrence)-includes contractual liability:    
 Each Occurrence Limit     $1,000,000 
 Aggregate Policy Limit     $2,000,000 
 
Business Auto Policy (Occurrence) – combined single limit $3,000,000 
 
Commercial Umbrella Policy (Occurrence)-cover any gaps between the $1 million and $2 million policy 
limits and the umbrella policy must follow the form of the underlying $1 million primary policy.  
 
All such coverage shall remain in full force and effect during the term of this contract. At all times, 
coverage shall be within the required limits.  
 
 
4. Training: 
 
Drivers and dispatchers employed by Sub-Contractor shall undergo such training as required by the 
Georgia Department of Human Services including clients rights and confidentiality; accessibility; drug 
free workplace; sexual harassment; CPR/First-aid; Defensive Driving; Universal Precautions for STD’s, 
HIV/Aids and Infectious Disease. Drivers will also be trained in use of all auxiliary equipment including 
radios, fire extinguishers, and wheelchair lifts. 
 
5. Drug and Alcohol Testing: 
 
Sub-Contractor shall be responsible for complying with all requirements of the Federal Transit 
Administration regarding the testing of safety sensitive employees for drug and alcohol use. The cost of 
compliance will be the sole responsibility of Sub-Contractor. 
 
 
 
 
 



3 

 

 

6. Records and other information: 
 
The Sub-Contractor agrees to make vehicles, vehicle files and drivers’ files available for NEGRC 
and DHs site visits, to the extent permitted by law.  Sub-Contractor also agrees to provide 
information and reports as requested by the Regional Transportation Coordinator. 
 

7. Monitoring and Inspection 
 
NEGRC and Regional Transportation Coordinator will review trip documents, logs, driver logs, 
vehicle maintenance records, driver qualification records and inspect vehicles. Sub-Contractor will 
cooperate with NEGRC and Regional Transportation Coordinator in making these and other 
documents and vehicles available. 
 

8. Payment: 
 
NEGRC agrees to remit payment for approved transportation services rendered by Sub-Contractor 
when reimbursement is received from the Georgia Department of Human Services.  
 
Total payments for services against these funds shall not be exceeded unless amendment(s) to this 
contract are issued. 
 

9. Fee Schedule: 
 
NOTE: ALLOCATIONS ARE CONTINGUENT UPON FUNDING AVAILABILITY FROM THE 
GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES THROUGH THE CONTRACT NEGOITATED 
WITH THE NORTHEAST GEORGIA REGIONAL COMMISSON.  
 
Each trip will be billed at the following rates:  
CORE Trips: Aging $8.00 and OTHER $8.00;  
HOURLY rate $40.00/hr. All hourly trips will be billed in .25 increments.  
FIELD TRIP HOURLY rate of $40.00 per hour, and  
FIELD TRIP DAILY rate of $350.00 per day.   
EMERGENCY rate of $60.00 per hour for assistance with evacuation, vaccines and transportation 
efforts in a governor-declared state of emergency or pandemic.  

 

See Attachment A for the DHS Rate Schedule that contains the rate for each type trip, including the 
administrative fee.  
  

10. Invoicing: 
 
Sub-Contractor shall provide NEGRC with completed billing summaries which will include the name of 
each client transported, the date transported, trip type and the number of approved trips provided. This 
can include the TRIP$ Invoice Backup Report and/or Invoice Summary Report. Sub-Contractor shall 
provide said billing summary on a monthly basis no later than the tenth day of the month following the 
activity. 
 
Consumers or person responsible for the consumers’ well-being must call Sub-Contractor directly to 
cancel scheduled trips. Sub-Contractor will provide a telephone number with a voice mail system for 
use for this notification 24 hours a day. 
 

11. Termination without Cause: 
 
Either party may terminate this contract without cause upon sixty (60) days written notice to the other 
party. Upon such termination without cause, Sub-Contractor shall be entitled to payment, in 



4 

 

 

accordance to contract provisions for services rendered up to the termination date. Sub-Contractor 
shall be obligated to continue performance of contract services, in accordance with this contract, until 
the termination date. 
 

12. Amendments 
 
Any change, alteration, deletion, or addition to the terms set forth in this contract must be in the form of a 
written amendment signed by both parties. 
 
14. Compliance with Law: 
 
Sub-Contractor shall perform all services required by this contract in accordance with all applicable 
federal, state and local laws and regulations. Sub-Contractor shall use only licensed personnel to 
perform work required by law or regulation to be performed by such personnel. 
 
 
15. Equal Opportunity: 
 
During the performance of this contract, Sub-Contractor agrees that it will, in good faith, afford 
equal opportunity required by applicable federal, state, or local law to all employees and 
applicants for employment without regard to race, color, religion, sex, age, disability or national 
origin. 
 
In accordance with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 2000d, section 303 
of the Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 6102, section 202 of the 
Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, 42 U.S.C. § 12132, and all other provisions of Federal 
Law, the parties agree that, during performance of this MOU, they will not discriminate against 
any employee or applicant for employment, any Sub-Contractor, or any supplier because of race, 
color, creed, national origin, gender, age or disability. 
 
16. Non Availability of Funds: 
 
This Contract is subject to the condition that funds be made available by the Congress of the United 
States, by the General Assembly of Georgia, or other sources, and by the proper budget authority for 
carrying out the functions which this Contract implements. If NEGRC becomes aware of funding 
issues jeopardizing its ability to reimburse Sub-Contractor, it shall immediately provide notice of 
same to Sub-Contractor.  
 
17. Force Majeure: 
 
Each party will be excused from performance under this contract to the extent that it is prevented 
from performing, in whole or in substantial part, due to delays caused by any cause beyond their 
reasonable control, an act of God, civil or military authority, war, court order, acts of public enemy, 
and such nonperformance will not be default under this contract nor a basis for termination for 
cause.  
 
18. Applicable Law: 
 
If any action at law or in equality is brought to enforce or interpret the provision of this Contract, the 
rules, regulations, statutes and laws of the State of Georgia will control. 
 
19. Severability: 
 
Should any article(s) or section(s) of this Contract, or any part thereof, later be deemed 
unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, the offending portion of the Contract should be 
severed, and the reminder of this Contract shall remain in full force and effect to the extent possible.  



5 

 

 

 
 
20. Waiver of Contract: 
 
No failure by either party to enforce any right or power granted under this Contract, or to insist upon 
strict compliance with this Contract, and no custom or practice of the parties at variance with the 
terms and conditions of this Contract shall constitute a general waiver of any future breach or default 
or affect the parties’ right to demand exact and strict compliance with the terms and conditions of 
this Contract.  
 
 
21. No Third Party Rights: 
 
This Contract shall be exclusively for the benefit of the parties and shall not provide any third parties 
with any remedy, claim, liability, reimbursement, and cause of action or other right. 
 
 
22. Sovereign Immunity: 
 
Nothing contained in this Contract shall be construed to be a waiver of the Sub-Contractor’s 
sovereign immunity or any individual’s qualified good faith or official immunities.  
 
 
23. Entire Contract: 
 
This Contract constitutes the complete contract between the parties and supersedes any and all 
other contracts, either oral or in writing, between the parties with respect to the subject matter of this 
contract. No other contract, statement or promise relating to the subject matter of this Contract not 
contained in this Contract shall be valid or binding.  This Contract may be modified or amended only 
by a written document signed by representatives of both parties with appropriate authorization.  
 
 
 
In consideration of the mutual promises, covenants and the payment terms set forth in this page and 
the attached contract, the NEGRC agrees it shall purchase transportation services in accordance with the 
terms and conditions of this contract. 
 
Agreed and entered into this   day of   , 2021. 
 
 
 
Burke Walker, Executive Director Date 
Northeast Georgia Regional Commission 
 
 
 
Bill Palmer, NEGRC Chairperson Date 
Northeast Georgia Regional Commission 
 
 
 
Bruce Henry, Chairperson Date 
Jasper County Board of Commissioners 

 
 
 



6 

 

 

Attachment A 
 

 

 

(includes NEGA RC Administrative Fee)

CONTRACTOR NAME: Northeast Georgia Regional Commission SUBCONTRACTOR NAME: Jasper County Board of Commissioners

AGING DBHDD DFCS GVRA OTHER
(Senior Center) (Elderly & Disabled)

Type DEFINITION RATE RATE RATE RATE RATE

CORE TRIP

Any one-way trip that occurs between 6 AM and 6 PM. Trips are
inclusive of ambulatory, wheelchair, fixed route, one-way
passenger, one-way division trips, scheduled, and demand
response. $8.40 N/A N/A N/A $8.40

NON-CORE TRIP

Any one-way trip that occurs between 6 PM. and 6 AM. Trips are
inclusive of ambulatory, wheelchair, fixed route, one-way
passenger, one-way division trips, scheduled, and demand
response. This will include all non-core hour trips, holidays, and
weekends. N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

WHEELCHAIR TRIP

Any one-way trip that is ordered by a HSP that requires the use of
a vehicle lift. The consumer may have temporary or permanent
physical limitations (or disabilities) that prohibit or make it difficult
for the consumer to climb the vehicle steps. For instance, the
consumer may require the use of a mobility aid, such as a
wheelchair, walker, cane, or the consumer may experience a
problem which makes it difficult to climb the vehicle's steps. N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

HOURLY

Any trip requiring the transport of a consumer(s) to a designated
location, when the transportation period of time exceeds one hour
or wait time is required. $40.50/hr. N/A N/A N/A $40.50/hr.

FIELD TRIP HOURLY

Any field trip with more than 3 passengers originating at a
designated location, transported to a designated location, and
arriving back at the same location. To charge an hourly rate, the
trip must be less than 8 hours. These trips are not charged per
passenger. $40.50/hr. N/A N/A N/A $40.50/hr.

FIELD TRIP DAILY

1) Any field trip with more than 3 passengers originating at a
designated location, transported to a designated location, and
arriving back at the same location. To charge a daily rate, trip
must be more than 8 hours; or 2) Any field trip with more than 3
passengers in which one vehicle is reserved for use only for HSP
clients and the HSP's staff member(s). These trips are not
charged per passenger. Examples of the field trip may include
shopping trips or recreational community outings. $350.50 N/A N/A N/A N/A

EMERGENCY TRIP
An hourly rate to assist with evacuation and transportation efforts 
in a governor-declared state of emergency or pandemic $60.50/hr N/A N/A N/A $60.50/hr

ON THE GO TRIP

Any one-way trip that is ordered through the On The Go app or call 
center for any consumer who is requiring additional on-demand 
services N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

No Shows will be billed at the trip type ordered.

FY22 Rate Schedule
For Period of July 1, 2021 - June 30, 2022



Business Item 7: 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department: Senior Center  
 
Date: 8-2-21 
 
Subject: Senior Center FY 2022 GA Foods Contract Amendment  
 
Summary:  
 
The BOC had previously approved this contract for FY22. Since that time, Michael Calogero, GA Foods Chief 
Growth Officer, and Terry White, GA Foods Director of Strategic Accounts, contacted the Director to discuss 
their need to raise meal costs due to experiencing “unprecedented inflationary costs recently” (as written in 
letters and shown in charts). They have attempted to absorb costs as long as possible but this is no longer 
feasible. They initially requested a 6% increase but have dropped it to 2%.  
 
Background:  
 
GA Foods submitted charts showing examples of increased costs - Boneless Skinless Chicken Breast in up 55% 
in 2021, Polyethylene products are up 107% in 2021, diesel fuel is up 32% in 2021, and linerboard corrugate is 
up 6% in 2021. Here are the price comparisons: 
 
Food Type                                          2022 Initial Rate     Proposed Rate   Open Hand Atl 
Hot bulk                                              $4.31/meal             $4.40/meal  $4.75 
Pre-plate                                            $4.60                        $4.70   $4.75 
Picnic                                                 $4.56                         $4.65   $4.75 
Frozen Meals (TMS)                           $4.79                         $4.89   $4.98 
Shelf Stable                                        $4.56                         $4.65   $4.85 
Frozen meals w/o components      $2.69                          $2.75 
 
State and Federal disbursements will cover this cost increase. It will NOT necessitate the county to have to 
increase its portion by 2%.  
 
 
Cost: cost is covered through Federal and State disbursements plus small county match 
 
Recommended Motion:  
 
Approve the GA Foods Contract Amendment to include meal cost changes; Chairman/Vice-Chairman 
authorized to sign contract 
  



FY’ 2021-2022 Catered Meals Contract, Amendment No.1 
 G.A. Food Service of Pinellas County LLC  

Page 1 of 2 
 

 
 
Jasper County Senior Center 
26 Mack Tillman Drive 
Monticello, GA 31064 
 

 

AMENDMENT No. 1 

This Amendment Number 1 to the Contract (“Amendment”) dated July 1, 2021, by and between 
Morgan County, Georgia, (hereinafter referred to as "COUNTY") and G.A. Food Services of 
Pinellas County, LLC. (hereinafter referred to as “CONTRACTOR”) having its principal place 
of business at 12200 32nd Court North, St Petersburg, FL 33716. The COUNTY and 
CONTRACTOR are also referred to herein collectively as the “Parties.” 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the Parties previously executed a Contract (“Contract”), creating certain rights, 
obligations, and duties between the Parties, all as fully set forth in the Contract; and 

WHEREAS, the Parties desire and wish to amend certain provisions of the Contract to the extent 
explicitly stated in this Amendment. 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and promises contained herein, 
as well as other good and valuable consideration, the adequacy and receipt of which are hereby 
acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:

 

The Contract dated July 1, 2021, between the COUNTY and CONTRACTOR is hereby 
amended, effective August 1, 2021, as follows. 

1. Section 2 – Compensation is hereby amended to in its entirety to read as follows: 

The CONTRACTOR shall be compensated for the work and services to be performed under 
this contract as set forth in Attachment A, which is attached hereto and made a part hereof. 
The COUNTY agrees to an additional two (2) percent price increase adjustment in 
compensation to CONTRACTOR as a result of unforeseen changes in economic conditions, 
including but not limited to, costs of raw materials, labor, freight, and fuel.   

2. Attachment A, Section 1, is hereby amended to in its entirety to read as follows: 

The purchase price for all regular meals ordered by COUNTY under this Contract shall be 
computed as follows: 

 



June 23, 2021 

 

To our valued Customers, 

 

Over the past 12 months and continuing for the unforeseeable future, we have managed through significant cost 

increases associated with both COVID-19 and inflation. At GA Foods, we made a commitment to aggressively leverage 

our position and relationships in the market to gain a reduction in costs and fight inflation.  Our pursuit in offering the 

highest quality and service in the industry is a persistent process guided by integrity and your earned trust.  GA Foods, 

along with many industries, have absorbed significant cost increases in raw materials, freight, fuel and labor.  While we 

have aimed to absorb those cost increases, we are now at a juncture to raise pricing to assist in managing the 

unprecedented inflationary pressures seen today.  

Our relentless efforts to improve productivity and efficiency have been unable to fully offset inflation while maintaining 

the high quality of our products. The accompanying charts illustrate the extent to which inflation has significantly 

impacted the industry.  Because of these efforts, we have been able to mitigate some of the increased costs and 

therefore only need a 6% price increase.  Once approved by you, this increase will be effective __________. 

Our continuing goal is to deliver the best quality and service with the most favorable economics. This increase will allow 

us to maintain these proven standards for the clients we serve together. We wish to take this opportunity to thank you 

for your business and continued partnership.  We are committed to working through this challenging time in unison, and 

please do not hesitate to reach out for further discussion and review. 

 

 

Kind Regards,  

 

 

Michael Calogero RPh, PharmD 

Chief Growth Officer 

 

 

 

 

https://www.sunmeadow.com/


 

Boneless Skinless Chicken Breast is up 55% in 2021           Linerboard Corrugate is up 6% in 2021  
 

 

 
 
 
 
Polyethylene is up 107% in 2021               Diesel Fuel is up 32% in 2021 

 

 

 

 



 

Page 2 of 2 
 

2021-2022 

Meal Type Price/Meal 

Hot Congregate or Home Delivered Bulk  $4.40 

Hot Congregate or Home Delivered Pre-plate $4.70 

Picnic Meal $4.65 

Frozen Meals without components $2.75 

TMS 2-pack $4.89 

TMS 5-pack $4.89 

TMS 7-pack $4.89 

Emergency Shelf Stable Meal (single) $4.65 

Shelf Stable Five Pack Meals $4.65 

As hereinabove amended, all other Terms and Covenants of the Contract will remain in full force 
and effect. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, COUNTY and the CONTRACTOR, acting by and through their duly 
authorized officers, agree to the terms and conditions of this Contract, set forth above, by affixing 
their signatures hereto. 

Acting for and on behalf of: Acting for and on behalf of:  
Jasper County Senior Center G.A. Food Service  
26 Mack Tillman Drive 15151 Prater Drive, Suite F  
Monticello, GA 31064 Covington, GA  30014   

 With Corporate offices located at: 
 12200 32nd Court N. 

 St. Petersburg, FL 33716 
 

Signature: __________________________________________   Signature:  _________________________________________  

Name:  _____________________________________________   Name:  _____________________________________________  

Title:  ______________________________________________   Title: ______________________________________________  

Date:  ______________________________________________   Date:  ______________________________________________  
   

Witness:  ___________________________________________   Witness:  __________________________________________  

Name:  _____________________________________________   Name:  _____________________________________________  
 



From: Terry White
To: Tracy Norton
Subject: FW: Rate Request
Date: Wednesday, July 14, 2021 1:26:42 PM
Attachments: CDA0314111C9408D8D235CF852A4B280.png

1CAF5405C50D4A95BFDE28832E736FCD.png

 
Ms. Norton:
 
Thank you for returning my call from this afternoon.  Per our discussion, I am
summarizing the GA Foods’ request below:
 
 
As we discussed, GA Foods has experienced some unprecedented inflationary
costs recently.  This is obviously due to the COVID pandemic which has disrupted
both our food and product supply chains causing shortages, which in turn, create
higher rates.
 
Initially, GA Foods thought that it could mitigate such increases through internal
controls and better purchasing practices.  Despite such, the company has been
unable to outpace the inflation.  Therefore, while it is a last resort, Leadership has
asked me to contact all of my customers and request their understanding and an
increase of 6%.
 
Since we just recently renegotiated NEGRC’s rates with a 4% CPI increase, I have
authority to reduce this request to just 2% on top of the 2021/2022 fiscal year
proposed rates.  This request would come with a commitment to review economic
conditions on a quarterly basis to determine if we can remove the 2% rate
increase.  They have also committed not to increase beyond this rate.
 
In reviewing the proposed rate increase over the new 2021/2022 rates, the cost for
your meals would be as follows:
 
Food Type                                          2022 Initial Rate                     Proposed Rate
Hot bulk                                              $4.31/meal                             $4.40/meal
Pre-plate                                            $4.60                                       $4.70
Picnic                                                 $4.56                                       $4.65
Frozen Meals (TMS)                           $4.79                                       $4.89
Shelf Stable                                        $4.56                                       $4.65
Frozen meals w/o components      $2.69                                       $2.75
 
Please let me know if you have any questions.
 
Thank you for your business.
 
Terry White
Director-Strategic Accounts | Sales
 

office 770.756.8853 cell 267.372.5389 | 800.852.2211 ext 344
 

6251 Cove Creek Drive | Flowery Branch, GA 30542
 
 

mailto:twhite@gafoods.com
mailto:tnorton@jaspercountyga.org




 

 

cid:image001.png@01D776FC.73D2A5E0

        Nourishment. Delivered.
 

Visit us at www.GAFoods.com
 

 
 
 
 
****CONFIDENTIALITY STATEMENT**** This communication, including any attachments, may contain confidential
information and is intended only for the individual or entity to whom this email is addressed. Any review,
dissemination, or copying of this communication by anyone other than the intended recipient is strictly prohibited.
If you are not the intended recipient, please contact the sender by reply email and delete and destroy all copies of
the original message.

http://gafoods.com/


Business Item 8: 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department: Senior Center  
 
Date: 8/2/21 
 
Subject: Senior Center FY 2021 Budget Amendment – Remaining Fundraising Balance from FY 2020 
 
Summary:  
 
 
The Senior Center had an ending balance in fundraiser for FY20 of $3,754.93. We are requesting to move that 
balance to our FY2021 Budget in the fundraiser line item. 
 
 
 
 
Background:  
 
Every year the members do fundraisers to raise funds for activities that are not funded in our regular budget, 
such as field trips, arts & crafts, games, and special events. The community donates toward these fundraisers in 
good faith that the funds will be spent as committed. Now that the audit is completed, we are requesting these 
funds be moved into our FY21 fundraiser budget. 
 
 
 
 
 
Cost: $0 (This is simply moving funds that were dedicated for a particular purpose, from FY20 to FY21 
fundraiser revenue)  
 
Recommended Motion: 
 
Approve Budget Amendment # 2021.08.02A to move FY2020 unspent fundraiser balance of $3,754.93 
from general fund balance to FY2021 budget.  
 





BUDGET AMENDMENT - #2021.08.02A 
FOR FISCAL YEAR 2021 

 
 
 
 
Commission approved a budget for fiscal year 2021 for Jasper County Government earlier in the year; and  
 
WHEREAS, the budget is a dynamic rather than static revenue and spending plan which requires adjustment 
from time to time as circumstances change; and 
 
WHEREAS, these adjustments maintain a balanced budget for all funds; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT the commission approves allocation of the Senior Center 
budget by the following:  
 
GL ACCOUNT- SENIOR CENTER     Debit        Credit     
100-600-06200-00057-536000 Fundraiser Activity                                       $3,754.93 
 
 
GL ACCOUNT- SENIOR CENTER     Debit        Credit     
                                  GENERAL FUND BALANCE                               
  
 
 
 
 
 
Adopted this _______ of       2021. 
  Day   Month 
 
 
 
             
BOC Chair       Finance Manager 
 
 

 

  



Business Item 9: 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department: Senior Center  
 
Date: 8/2/21 
 
Subject: Senior Center FY 2022 Budget Amendment – Remaining Fundraising Balance from FY 2021 
 
Summary:  
 
The Senior Center had a balance from FY 2020 of $3,754.93 to be moved over into FY 2021. In 
addition, we raised $1,635.00 for a total income of $5,389.93.  
 
We also had $3,523.35 in expenditures from this account, leaving a balance at the end of FY 2021 of 
$1,866.58. 
 
 
 
 
Background:  
 
Every year the members do fundraisers to raise funds for activities that are not funded in our regular 
budget, such as field trips, arts & crafts, games, and special events. The community donates toward 
these fundraisers in good faith that the funds will be spent as committed.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Cost: $0  
 
Recommended Motion:  
 
Approve Budget Amendment # 2021.08.02B to move FY2021 unspent fundraiser balance of 
$1,866.58 from general fund balance to FY2022 budget.  
 









 
BUDGET AMENDMENT - #2021.08.02B  

FOR FISCAL YEAR 2022 
 
 
 
 
Commission approved a budget for fiscal year 2022 for Jasper County Government earlier in the year; and  
 
WHEREAS, the budget is a dynamic rather than static revenue and spending plan which requires adjustment 
from time to time as circumstances change; and 
 
WHEREAS, these adjustments maintain a balanced budget for all funds; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT the commission approves allocation of the Senior Center 
budget by the following:  
 
GL ACCOUNT- SENIOR CENTER     Debit        Credit     
100-600-06200-00057-536000 Fundraiser Activity                                       $1,866.58 
 
 
GL ACCOUNT- SENIOR CENTER     Debit        Credit     
                                  GENERAL FUND BALANCE                               
  
 
 
 
 
 
Adopted this _______ of       2021. 
  Day   Month 
 
 
 
             
BOC Chair       Finance Manager 
 
 

 

  



Business Item 10: 
 
Agenda Request – Jasper County BOC 
 
Department:  Board of Commissioners 
 
Date:   August 2, 2021 
 
Subject: Schedule Work Sessions and Called Meetings 
 
 
Work Sessions and Called Meetings scheduled as needed. 
 
 
 
Background:  
 
 
 
 
 
Cost:   
 
 
 
 
Recommended Motion:  
 
Board Discretion 
 

 


	MONTICELLO, GEORGIA
	*** The meeting will be live streamed Via Facebook on the Jasper County Georgia Facebook Page.
	***See Revised Continued Precautions in Response to Covid-19 at bottom of Page 2.
	*** Citizen Access will be available with limited Seating. ***

